

984230260

HOUSE BILL NO. 428**AMENDMENT IN THE NATURE OF A SUBSTITUTE**(Proposed by the House Committee on Health, Welfare and Institutions
on February 13, 1998)

(Patron Prior to Substitute—Delegate Hall)

A BILL to amend and reenact §§ 37.1-194 through 37.1-199, 37.1-202.1, 37.1-242, 37.1-243, 37.1-245 through 37.1-248, and 37.1-250 through 37.1-253 of the Code of Virginia, and to amend the Code of Virginia by adding in Article 2 of Chapter 1 of Title 37.1 a section numbered 37.1-48.1, and by adding sections numbered 37.1-194.1 and 37.1-248.1, relating to community mental health, mental retardation and substance abuse services; behavioral health authorities; Comprehensive State Plan.

Be it enacted by the General Assembly of Virginia:

1. That §§ 37.1-194 through 37.1-199, 37.1-202.1, 37.1-242, 37.1-243, 37.1-245 through 37.1-248, and 37.1-250 through 37.1-253 of the Code of Virginia are amended and reenacted, and that the Code of Virginia is amended by adding in Article 2 of Chapter 1 of Title 37.1 a section numbered 37.1-48.1, and by adding sections numbered 37.1-194.1 and 37.1-248.1, as follows:

§ 37.1-48.1. *Comprehensive State Plan for mental health, mental retardation and substance abuse services.*

The Department, in consultation with community services boards, behavioral health authorities and state mental health and mental retardation facilities and with consumers, consumers' families, advocacy organizations, and other interested parties, shall develop and update biennially a six-year Comprehensive State Plan for mental health, mental retardation and substance abuse services. The Comprehensive State Plan shall identify the needs of and the resource requirements for providing services and supports to persons with mental illness, mental retardation or alcohol or other drug abuse problems or dependence across the Commonwealth and shall propose strategies to address these needs. The Comprehensive State Plan shall be used in the development of the Department's biennial budget submission to the Governor.

§ 37.1-194. Purpose; services to be provided.

The Department, for the purposes of establishing, maintaining, and promoting the development of mental health, mental retardation and substance abuse services in the Commonwealth, may ~~make~~ *matching grants provide funds* to assist any city or county having a population of approximately 50,000 or more or any city having a population of approximately 75,000 or more, or any combination of political subdivisions having a combined population of approximately 50,000 or more, or any city or county or combination thereof which has less than the above prescribed populations which the Department determines is in need of such services, in the establishment and operation of local mental health, mental retardation and substance abuse ~~programs~~ *provision of such services*. Every county and or city shall establish, either singly or in combination with another political subdivision, a or combination of cities or counties or counties and cities that has established a community services board shall, in consultation with its community services board, designate its board as an operating community services board, an administrative policy community services board or a local government department with a policy-advisory community services board on or before July 1, ~~1983~~1999.

The core of ~~program~~ services to be provided by operating community services boards, administrative policy community services boards or local government departments with policy-advisory community services boards within the political subdivisions that they serve shall include emergency services, and case management services subject to such funds as may be appropriated therefor, and may include a comprehensive system of inpatient services, outpatient, and day-support services, residential services, prevention and, early intervention services, and other appropriate mental health, mental retardation and substance abuse ~~programs~~ services necessary to provide a comprehensive system of individualized services and supports to persons with mental illnesses, mental retardation, or alcohol or other drug abuse problems or dependence.

§ 37.1-194.1. Definitions.

As used in this chapter, unless a different meaning clearly appears from the context:

"Administrative policy community services board" or "administrative policy board" means the public body organized in accordance with the provisions of this chapter that is appointed by and accountable to the local governing body of each political subdivision that established it to set policy for and administer the provision of mental health, mental retardation and substance abuse services. The "administrative policy community services board" or "administrative policy board" denotes the board, the members of which are appointed pursuant to § 37.1-195 with the powers and duties enumerated in §§ 37.1-197 B and 37.1-197.1. Mental health, mental retardation and substance abuse services are provided through local government staff, community services board staff, or through contracts with

60 *other organizations and providers.*

61 *"Operating community services board" or "operating board" means the public body organized in*
 62 *accordance with the provisions of this chapter that is appointed by and accountable to the local*
 63 *governing body of each political subdivision that established it for the direct provision of mental health,*
 64 *mental retardation and substance abuse services. The "operating community services board" or*
 65 *"operating board" denotes the board, the members of which are appointed pursuant § 37.1-195 with the*
 66 *powers and duties enumerated in §§ 37.1-197 A and 37.1-197.1. "Operating community services board"*
 67 *or "operating board" also includes the organization that provides such services, through its own staff or*
 68 *through contracts with other providers, unless the specific context indicates otherwise.*

69 *"Performance contract" means the annual agreement negotiated by an operating community services*
 70 *board, an administrative policy community services board, or a local government department and its*
 71 *policy-advisory community services board with the Department through which it provides state and*
 72 *federal funds appropriated for mental health, mental retardation and substance abuse services to that*
 73 *operating community services board, administrative policy community services board or local*
 74 *government department with a policy-advisory community services board.*

75 *"Policy-advisory community services board" or "policy-advisory board" means the public body*
 76 *organized in accordance with the provisions of this chapter that is appointed by and accountable to the*
 77 *local governing body of each political subdivision that established it to provide advice on policy matters*
 78 *to the local government department that provides mental health, mental retardation and substance abuse*
 79 *services pursuant to § 37.1-197 A and § 37.1-197.1. The "policy-advisory community services board" or*
 80 *"policy-advisory board" denotes the board, the members of which are appointed pursuant to § 37.1-195*
 81 *with the powers and duties enumerated in § 37.1-197 C.*

82 § 37.1-195. Community services board; appointment; membership; duties of fiscal agent.

83 A. Every city, county or combination of counties or cities or counties and cities ~~establishing a~~
 84 ~~community mental health, mental retardation and substance abuse services program,~~ before it shall come
 85 within the provisions of this ~~aet~~chapter, shall establish a single community services board, with neither
 86 less than ~~five~~ six nor more than eighteen members. When any city or county singly establishes a
 87 ~~program~~community services board, the board shall be appointed by the governing body of the local
 88 political subdivision establishing ~~such a program~~the board. When any combination of counties or cities
 89 or counties and cities establishes a community services ~~program~~ board, the board of supervisors of each
 90 county ~~in the case of counties~~ or the council ~~in the case of cities~~ each city shall ~~establish~~mutually agree
 91 on the size of the board, shall elect and appoint the members of the community services board and shall
 92 designate an official of one member city or county to act as fiscal agent for the board.

93 Appointments to the community services board shall be broadly representative of the community and
 94 shall include representation by . One third of the appointments to the board shall be identified
 95 consumers or family members of consumers, at least one of whom shall be a consumer receiving
 96 services. One or more members may be non-governmental service providers. Sheriffs or their designees
 97 shall also be included, when practical.

98 The county or city which comprises a single board and the county or city whose designated official
 99 serves as fiscal agent for the board in the case of joint boards shall annually audit the total revenues of
 100 the board and its programs and shall, in conjunction with the other participating political subdivisions in
 101 the case of joint boards, arrange for the provision of legal services to the board.

102 No such board shall be composed of a majority of local government officials, elected or appointed,
 103 as members, nor shall any county or city be represented on such board by more than ~~one~~ two elected
 104 official or appointed officials.

105 The board appointed pursuant to this section shall be responsible to the governing body or bodies of
 106 the county or city or combination thereof ~~which~~ that established such board.

107 B. A city council or county board of supervisors may designate its community services board as (i)
 108 an operating board, (ii) an administrative policy board or (iii) a policy-advisory board. A combination
 109 of cities or counties or cities and counties may establish a joint community services board either as (i)
 110 an operating board, (ii) an administrative policy board or (iii) a policy-advisory board.

111 C. The county or city or combination of cities or counties, or cities and counties that establishes an
 112 operating board shall receive an independent annual audit of the total revenues, expenditures, and data
 113 of that operating board, and shall provide a copy of the audit to the Department. The county or city or
 114 combination of cities or counties or cities and counties that establishes an operating board shall
 115 designate an official of one member city or county to act as fiscal agent for the board. The county or
 116 city whose designated official serves as fiscal agent for the board in the case of joint boards shall
 117 annually audit the total revenues of the board and its services and shall, in conjunction with the other
 118 participating political subdivisions, arrange for the provision of legal services to the board.

119 D. The county or city or combination of cities or counties, or cities and counties that establishes an
 120 administrative policy board shall receive an annual audit of the total revenues, expenditures, and data
 121 of the administrative policy board, provide a copy of the audit to the Department, and arrange for the

122 provision of legal services to the board. When a combination of cities or counties establishes an
123 administrative policy board, the participating subdivisions shall designate an official of one member city
124 or county to act as fiscal agent for the board. The county or city whose designated official serves as
125 fiscal agent for the board in the case of joint boards shall annually audit the total revenues of the
126 board and its services and shall, in conjunction with the other participating political subdivisions in the
127 case of joint boards, arrange for the provision of legal services to the board.

128 E. The county or city or combination of cities or counties, or cities and counties that establishes a
129 policy-advisory board shall provide an annual audit of the total revenues, expenditures, and data of the
130 city or county government department to the board and the Department, carry out the responsibilities
131 and duties enumerated in §§ 37.1-197 A and 37.1-197.1, and provide legal services to the board. When
132 a combination of cities or counties or cities and counties establishes a policy-advisory board, the
133 participating subdivisions shall designate which local government shall operate the city or county
134 government department. This local government shall provide an annual audit of the total revenues,
135 expenditures, and data of that department to the board and the Department, carry out the
136 responsibilities and duties enumerated in §§ 37.1-197 A and 37.1-197.1, and, in conjunction with the
137 other participating political subdivisions in the case of joint boards, arrange for the provision of legal
138 services to the board.

139 § 37.1-196. Same; term; vacancies; removal.

140 The term of office of each member of the operating community services boards, the administrative
141 policy boards, or policy-advisory boards shall be for three years from the first day of January 1 of the
142 year of appointment, or, at the option of the governing body of a county or city, from the first day of
143 July 1 of the year of appointment, except that of the members first appointed, several shall be appointed
144 for terms of one year each, several for terms of two years each, and the remaining members of the
145 board for terms of three years each. The selection of members for one-year, two-year, and three-year
146 terms shall be as nearly equal as possible with regard to the total number of members on the board. If a
147 governing body has appointed members for terms commencing January one or July one but desires to
148 change the date the terms of office commence, the governing body may, as the terms of the members
149 then in office expire, appoint successors for terms of two and one-half or three and one-half years so as
150 to expire on June thirty or December thirty-one. Vacancies shall be filled for unexpired terms in the
151 same manner as original appointments. No person shall be eligible to serve more than two successive
152 three full three-year terms; provided that however, persons heretofore or hereafter appointed to fill
153 vacancies may serve two three additional successive full three-year terms. Any member of a board may
154 be removed by the appointing authority for cause, after being given a written statement of the causes
155 and an opportunity to be heard thereon.

156 § 37.1-196.1. Compensation of board members.

157 The governing body of any county or city, or the governing bodies of any combination thereof,
158 which establishes a an operating community services board, an administrative policy board, or a
159 policy-advisory board may, out of the general fund or funds of the participating political subdivisions,
160 pay to each member of the board not in excess of \$600 per year as compensation for his attendance at
161 meetings of the board. No political subdivision shall be reimbursed out of either state or federal funds
162 for any part of the compensation paid.

163 § 37.1-197. Community services boards; local government department; powers and duties.

164 A. Every operating community services board or local government department with a policy-advisory
165 board shall have the following powers and duties:

166 1. Review and evaluate all existing and proposed public community mental health, mental retardation
167 and substance abuse services and facilities available to serve the community and such private services
168 and facilities as receive funds through the board it and advise the appropriate local
169 governments governing body or bodies of the political subdivision or subdivisions that established it as to
170 its findings.

171 2. Submit Pursuant to § 37.1-198, submit to the governing body of bodies of each political
172 subdivision; of which that established it is an agency, a program of an annual performance contract for
173 community mental health, mental retardation and substance abuse services and facilities for its approval
174 prior to submission of the contract to the Department.

175 3. Within amounts appropriated therefor, execute such programs and maintain provide such services
176 as may be authorized under such appropriations performance contract.

177 4. In accordance with its approved program performance contract, enter into contracts with other
178 providers for the rendition or operation of services or facilities.

179 5. Make In the case of operating boards, make rules, policies, or regulations concerning the rendition
180 or operation of services and facilities under its direction or supervision, subject to applicable standards,
181 policies, or regulations promulgated by the State Board.

182 6. Appoint a coordinator of In the case of operating boards, appoint an executive director of

183 community mental health, mental retardation and substance abuse services, according to minimum
 184 qualifications as may be established by the Department, and prescribe his duties. The compensation of
 185 such coordinator or the executive director shall be fixed by the operating board within the amounts
 186 made available by appropriation therefor. *The executive director shall serve at the pleasure of the*
 187 *operating board and be employed under an annually renewable contract that contains performance*
 188 *objectives and evaluation criteria. For operating boards, the Department shall (i) participate in and*
 189 *approve the selection of the executive director, (ii) review and approve the executive director's contract,*
 190 *and (iii) review and approve the compensation packages of the executive director and senior*
 191 *management staff. In the case of a local government department with a policy-advisory board, the*
 192 *director of the local government department shall serve as executive director. The policy-advisory board*
 193 *shall participate in the selection and the annual performance evaluation of the executive director,*
 194 *according to minimum qualifications established by the Department. The compensation of the executive*
 195 *director shall be fixed by local government in consultation with the policy-advisory board within the*
 196 *amounts made available by appropriation therefor.*

197 7. Prescribe a reasonable schedule of fees for services provided by personnel or facilities under the
 198 jurisdiction or supervision of the board and *establish procedures for the collection of the same. All fees*
 199 *collected shall be included in the program performance contract submitted to the local governing body*
 200 *or bodies pursuant to subdivision 2 hereof and in the budget submitted to the local governing body or*
 201 *bodies pursuant to § 37.1-198 and shall be used only for community mental health, mental retardation*
 202 *and substance abuse purposes. Every operating board and local government department with a*
 203 *policy-advisory board shall institute a reimbursement system to maximize the collection of fees from*
 204 *persons receiving services under the their jurisdiction or supervision of the board consistent with the*
 205 *provisions of § 37.1-202.1 and from responsible third-party payors. Boards Operating boards and local*
 206 *government departments with policy-advisory boards shall not attempt to bill or collect fees for time*
 207 *spent participating in involuntary commitment hearings pursuant to § 37.1-67.3.*

208 8. Accept or refuse gifts, donations, bequests or grants of money or property from any source and
 209 utilize the same as authorized by the governing body or bodies of the political subdivision or
 210 subdivisions of which that established it is an agency.

211 9. Seek and accept funds through federal grants. In accepting such grants the *operating board or*
 212 *local government department with a policy-advisory board shall not bind the governing body or bodies*
 213 *of the political subdivision or subdivisions of which that established it is an agency to any expenditures*
 214 *or conditions of acceptance without the prior approval of such governing body or bodies.*

215 10. Have authority, notwithstanding any provision of law to the contrary, to disburse funds
 216 appropriated to it in accordance with such regulations as may be established by the governing body or
 217 bodies of the political subdivision of which the board is an agency or, in the case of a joint board, as
 218 may be establish by agreement or subdivisions that established it.

219 11. Apply for and accept loans as authorized by the governing body or bodies of the political
 220 subdivision or subdivisions of which that established it is an agency. This provision is not intended to
 221 affect the validity of loans so authorized and accepted prior to July 1, 1984.

222 12. Develop joint annual written agreements, consistent with policies and procedures established by
 223 the State Board, with local school divisions; health departments; boards of social services; housing
 224 agencies, where they exist; courts; sheriffs; area agencies on aging and regional Department of
 225 Rehabilitative Services offices. The agreements shall specify what services will be provided to
 226 ~~clients~~consumers. All participating agencies shall develop and implement the agreements and shall
 227 review the agreements annually.

228 13. *Develop and submit to the Department the necessary information for the preparation of the*
 229 *Comprehensive State Plan for mental health, mental retardation and substance abuse services pursuant*
 230 *to § 37.1-48.1.*

231 14. *Take all necessary and appropriate actions to maximize the involvement and participation of*
 232 *consumers and family members of consumers in policy formulation and services planning, delivery, and*
 233 *evaluation.*

234 15. *Institute, singly or in combination with other operating boards, administrative policy boards,*
 235 *local government departments with policy-advisory boards, or behavioral health authorities a dispute*
 236 *resolution mechanism that is approved by the Department and enables consumers and family members*
 237 *of consumers to resolve concerns, issues, or disagreements about services without adversely affecting*
 238 *their access to or receipt of appropriate types and amounts of current or future services from the*
 239 *operating board or local government department with a policy-advisory board.*

240 16. *Notwithstanding the provisions of § 37.1-84.1 or any regulations promulgated thereunder, release*
 241 *data and information about individual consumers to the Department so long as the Department*
 242 *implements procedures to protect the confidentiality of such information.*

243 B. Every administrative policy community services board shall:

244 1. Review and evaluate all existing and proposed public community mental health, mental retardation

245 *and substance abuse services and facilities available to serve the community and such private services*
 246 *and facilities as receive funds through it and advise the local governing body or bodies of the political*
 247 *subdivision or subdivisions that established it as to its findings.*

248 2. *Pursuant to § 37.1-198, submit to the governing body of each political subdivision that established*
 249 *it, an annual performance contract for community mental health, mental retardation and substance*
 250 *abuse services for its approval prior to submission of the contract to the Department.*

251 3. *Within amounts appropriated therefor, provide such services as may be authorized under such*
 252 *performance contract.*

253 4. *In accordance with its approved performance contract, enter into contracts with other providers*
 254 *for the rendition or operation of services or facilities.*

255 5. *Make rules, policies, or regulations concerning the rendition or operation of services and facilities*
 256 *under its direction or supervision, subject to applicable standards, policies or regulations promulgated*
 257 *by the State Board.*

258 6. *Participate with local government in the appointment and annual performance evaluation of an*
 259 *executive director of community mental health, mental retardation and substance abuse services,*
 260 *according to minimum qualifications established by the Department, and prescribe his duties. The*
 261 *compensation of the executive director shall be fixed by local government in consultation with the board*
 262 *within the amounts made available by appropriation therefor.*

263 7. *Prescribe a reasonable schedule of fees for services provided by personnel or facilities under the*
 264 *jurisdiction or supervision of the board and establish procedures for the collection of the same. All fees*
 265 *collected shall be included in the performance contract submitted to the local governing body or bodies*
 266 *pursuant to subdivision 2 of this subdivision and § 37.1-198 and shall be used only for community*
 267 *mental health, mental retardation and substance abuse purposes. Every administrative policy board shall*
 268 *institute a reimbursement system to maximize the collection of fees from persons receiving services*
 269 *under their jurisdiction or supervision consistent with the provisions of § 37.1-202.1 and from*
 270 *responsible third-party payors. Administrative policy boards shall not attempt to bill or collect fees for*
 271 *time spent participating in involuntary commitment hearings pursuant to § 37.1-67.3.*

272 8. *Accept or refuse gifts, donations, bequests or grants of money or property from any source and*
 273 *utilize the same as authorized by the governing body or bodies of the political subdivision or*
 274 *subdivisions that established it.*

275 9. *Seek and accept funds through federal grants. In accepting such grants, the administrative policy*
 276 *community services boards shall not bind the governing body or bodies of the political subdivision or*
 277 *subdivisions that established it to any expenditures or conditions of acceptance without the prior*
 278 *approval of such governing body or bodies.*

279 10. *Have authority, notwithstanding any provision of law to the contrary, to disburse funds*
 280 *appropriated to it in accordance with such regulations as may be established by the governing body or*
 281 *bodies of the political subdivision or subdivisions that established it.*

282 11. *Apply for and accept loans as authorized by the governing body or bodies of the political*
 283 *subdivision or subdivisions that established it.*

284 12. *Develop joint annual written agreements, consistent with policies and procedures established by*
 285 *the State Board, with local school divisions; health departments; boards of social services; housing*
 286 *agencies, where they exist; courts; sheriffs; area agencies on aging; and regional Department of*
 287 *Rehabilitative Services offices. The agreements shall specify what services will be provided to*
 288 *consumers. All participating agencies shall develop and implement the agreements and shall review the*
 289 *agreements annually.*

290 13. *Develop and submit to the local governing body of each political subdivision that established it*
 291 *and to the Department the necessary information for the preparation of the Comprehensive State Plan*
 292 *for mental health, mental retardation and substance abuse services pursuant to § 37.1-48.1.*

293 14. *Take all necessary and appropriate actions to maximize the involvement and participation of*
 294 *consumers and family members of consumers in policy formulation and services planning, delivery, and*
 295 *evaluation.*

296 15. *Institute, singly or in combination with other operating community services boards, administrative*
 297 *policy boards, local government departments with policy-advisory boards, or behavioral health*
 298 *authorities, a dispute resolution mechanism that is approved by the Department and enables consumers*
 299 *and family members of consumers to resolve concerns, issues, or disagreements about services without*
 300 *adversely affecting their access to or receipt of appropriate types and amounts of current or future*
 301 *services from the administrative policy board.*

302 16. *Notwithstanding the provisions of § 37.1-84.1 or any regulations promulgated thereunder, release*
 303 *data and information about individual consumers to the Department so long as the Department*
 304 *implements procedures to protect the confidentiality of such information.*

305 17. *Carry out other duties and responsibilities as assigned by the governing body of each political*

306 *subdivision that established it.*

307 *By local agreement between the administrative policy board and the governing body of the political*
 308 *subdivision that established it, additional responsibilities may be carried out by the local government,*
 309 *including, but not limited to, personnel or financial management. In the case of administrative policy*
 310 *boards established by more than one city or county, the participating subdivisions shall designate which*
 311 *local government shall assume these responsibilities.*

312 *C. Every policy-advisory community services board, with staff support provided by the director of the*
 313 *local government department, shall:*

314 *1. Advise the local government regarding rules, policies, or regulations for the rendition or operation*
 315 *of services and facilities by the local government department, subject to applicable standards, policies,*
 316 *or regulations promulgated by the State Board.*

317 *2. Review and evaluate the operations of the local government department and advise the local*
 318 *governing body of each political subdivision that established it as to its findings.*

319 *3. Review the community mental health, mental retardation and substance abuse services developed*
 320 *by the local government department and advise the local governing body of each political subdivision*
 321 *that established it as to its findings.*

322 *4. Review and comment on the annual performance contract, quarterly and annual performance*
 323 *reports, and Comprehensive State Plan proposals developed by the local government department. The*
 324 *board's comments shall be attached to the performance contract, performance reports, and*
 325 *Comprehensive State Plan proposals prior to their submission to the local governing body of each*
 326 *political subdivision that established it and to the Department.*

327 *5. Advise the local government as to the necessary and appropriate actions to maximize the*
 328 *involvement and participation of consumers and family members of consumers in policy formulation and*
 329 *services evaluation.*

330 *6. Participate in the selection and the annual performance evaluation of the local government*
 331 *department director employed by the city or county.*

332 *7. Carry out other duties and responsibilities as assigned by the governing body of each political*
 333 *subdivision that established it.*

334 *§ 37.1-197.1. Prescription team; prescreening; predischarge planning.*

335 *A. In order to provide comprehensive mental health, mental retardation and substance abuse services*
 336 *within a continuum of care, the operating community services board, administrative policy board or*
 337 *local government department with a policy-advisory board shall function as the single point of entry into*
 338 *the publicly funded mental health, mental retardation and substance abuse services system and shall*
 339 *fulfill the following responsibilities:*

340 *1. Establish and coordinate the operation of a prescription team which that shall be composed of*
 341 *representatives from the operating community services board, administrative policy board or local*
 342 *government department with a policy-advisory board, social services or public welfare department,*
 343 *health department, Department of Rehabilitative Services office serving in the community services*
 344 *board's area and, as appropriate, the social services staff of the state institution(s) serving the community*
 345 *services board's catchment area and the local school division. Such other human resources agency*
 346 *personnel may serve on the team as the team deems necessary. The team, under the direction of the*
 347 *operating community services board, administrative policy board or the local government department*
 348 *with a policy-advisory board, shall be responsible for integrating the community services necessary to*
 349 *accomplish effective prescreening and predischarge planning for clients consumers referred to the*
 350 *operating community services board, administrative policy community services board, or local*
 351 *government department with a policy-advisory board. When prescreening reports are required by the*
 352 *court on an emergency basis pursuant to § 37.1-67.3, the team may designate one team member to*
 353 *develop the report for the court and report thereafter to the team.*

354 *2. Provide prescreening services prior to the admission for treatment pursuant to § 37.1-65 or*
 355 *§ 37.1-67.3 of any person who requires emergency mental health services while in a political subdivision*
 356 *served by the operating community services board, administrative policy board or local government*
 357 *department with a policy-advisory board.*

358 *3. Cooperate and participate in Provide, in consultation with the appropriate state mental health*
 359 *facility or training center, predischarge planning for any person, who prior to hospitalization admission,*
 360 *resided in a political subdivision served by the operating community services board, administrative*
 361 *policy board, or local government department with a policy-advisory board or who chooses to reside*
 362 *after hospitalization in a political subdivision served by the board, who is to be released from a state*
 363 *hospital mental health facility or training center pursuant to § 37.1-98. The predischarge plan must be*
 364 *completed prior to the person's discharge. The plan must be prepared with the involvement and*
 365 *participation of the consumer or his representative and must reflect the consumer's preferences to the*
 366 *greatest extent possible. The plan must include all of the mental health, mental retardation, substance*
 367 *abuse, social, educational, medical, employment, housing, legal, advocacy, transportation, and other*

368 services that the consumer will need and identify the public or private agencies that have agreed to
369 provide them.

370 4. No person shall be discharged from a state mental health facility or training center without
371 completion by the operating board, administrative policy board, or local government department with a
372 policy-advisory board of the predischarge plan described in subdivision 3 of this subsection. If state
373 facility staff identify a patient or resident as ready for discharge and the operating board, administrative
374 policy board, or local government department with a policy-advisory board that is responsible for the
375 person's care refuses to develop a predischarge plan to accept the person back into his community, the
376 state facility and the operating board, administrative policy board or local government department with
377 a policy-advisory board shall accept the Department's mediation of this situation and implement the
378 Department's final decision. The Department must ensure that sufficient funds are provided to the
379 operating board, administrative policy board or local government department with a policy-advisory
380 board to implement the predischarge plan or the Department's final decision in order to ensure the
381 availability of adequate services for the consumer and the protection of the community. The operating
382 board, administrative policy board, or local government department with a policy-advisory board must
383 document in the treatment plan the reason(s) for not discharging a person identified by the state mental
384 health facility or training center as being ready for discharge to a community setting. This
385 documentation must be placed in the person's treatment plan at the mental health facility or training
386 center within thirty days of this identification.

387 B. The operating community services board, administrative policy board, or local government
388 department with a policy-advisory board may perform the functions set out in ~~subsection A hereof~~
389 subdivision A 1, regarding the prescription team, in the case of children by referring ~~clients~~ consumers
390 who are minors to the locality's family assessment and planning team and by cooperating with the
391 community policy and management team in the coordination of services for troubled youths and their
392 families. The operating board, administrative policy board, or local government department with a
393 policy-advisory board may involve the family assessment and planning team and the community policy
394 and management team, but it remains responsible for performing the functions set out in subdivisions A
395 2 and A 3 in the case of children.

396 § 37.1-197.2. Background checks required.

397 A. Every operating community services board, administrative policy board, local government
398 department with a policy-advisory board and behavioral health authority shall, on and after July 1,
399 1997, require any applicant who accepts employment in any direct ~~client~~ consumer care position with
400 the operating community services board, administrative policy board, local government department with
401 a policy-advisory board or behavioral health authority to submit to fingerprinting and provide personal
402 descriptive information to be forwarded through the Central Criminal Records Exchange to the Federal
403 Bureau of Investigation (FBI) for the purpose of obtaining national criminal history record information
404 regarding such applicant.

405 The Central Criminal Records Exchange, upon receipt of an individual's record or notification that no
406 record exists, shall submit a report to the requesting executive director of the operating community
407 services board, administrative policy board, local government department with a policy-advisory board
408 or the behavioral health authority. If any applicant is denied employment because of information
409 appearing on the criminal history record and the applicant disputes the information upon which the
410 denial was based, the Central Criminal Records Exchange shall, upon request, furnish the applicant the
411 procedures for obtaining a copy of the criminal history record from the Federal Bureau of Investigation.
412 The information provided to the executive director of any operating community services board,
413 administrative policy board, local government department with a policy-advisory board or behavioral
414 health authority shall not be disseminated except as provided in this section.

415 B. ~~The~~ Operating community services boards, administrative policy boards, local government
416 departments with policy-advisory boards and behavioral health authorities shall also require, as a
417 condition of employment for all such applicants, written consent and personal information necessary to
418 obtain a search of the registry of founded complaints of child abuse and neglect maintained by the
419 Department of Social Services pursuant to § 63.1-248.8.

420 C. The cost of obtaining the criminal history record and search of the child abuse and neglect
421 registry record shall be borne by the applicant, unless the operating community services board,
422 administrative policy board, local government department with a policy-advisory board or behavioral
423 health authority, at its option, decides to pay such cost.

424 D. As used in this section, the term "direct ~~client~~ consumer care position" means any position with a
425 job description that includes responsibility for (i) treatment, case management, health, safety,
426 development or well-being of a ~~client~~ consumer, or (ii) immediately supervising a person in a position
427 with such responsibility.

428 § 37.1-198. Performance contract for mental health, mental retardation and substance abuse services.

429 A. The Department shall develop and initiate negotiation of the performance contracts through which
430 it provides funds to operating boards, administrative policy boards or local government departments
431 with policy-advisory boards to accomplish the purposes set forth in this chapter. Six months prior to the
432 beginning of each fiscal year, the Department shall make available to the public the standard
433 performance contract form that it intends to use as the performance contract for that fiscal year, and
434 solicit public comments for a period of sixty days.

435 B. Any ~~city, county or combination of counties or cities or counties and cities~~ which establishes a
436 operating community services board administering a mental health, mental retardation and substance
437 abuse services program, administrative policy board, or local government department with a
438 policy-advisory board may apply for the assistance as provided in this act chapter by submitting
439 annually to the Department its ~~plan and budget~~ proposed performance contract for the next fiscal year
440 together with the (i) recommendations of the operating community services board ~~thereon~~
441 administrative policy board's board of directors or the local government department's policy-advisory
442 board and (ii) the approval by formal vote of the governing body of each political subdivision that
443 established it. The ~~plan and budget~~ shall include a comprehensive needs assessment of the service area,
444 an inventory of available services provided by the board and other local agencies and expected
445 utilization of such services. The operating board, administrative policy board or local government
446 department with a policy-advisory board shall make its proposed performance contract available for
447 public review and solicit public comments for a period of thirty days prior to submitting it for the
448 recommendation of the operating board or administrative policy board's board of directors or the local
449 government department's policy-advisory board. To avoid disruptions in service continuity, the
450 Department may provide up to five semi-monthly payments of state-controlled funds to allow sufficient
451 time to complete public review, public comment, negotiation and approval of the performance contract.
452 If the governing body of each political subdivision does not approve the proposed performance contract
453 by September 15 of each year, the performance contract shall be deemed approved.

454 C. The performance contract shall (i) delineate the responsibilities of the Department and the
455 operating board, administrative policy board or the local government department and its policy-advisory
456 board; (ii) specify conditions that must be met for the receipt of state-controlled funds; (iii) identify the
457 groups of consumers to be served with state-controlled funds; (iv) beginning on July 1, 2000, contain
458 specific consumer outcome, provider performance, consumer satisfaction, and consumer and family
459 member participation and involvement measures, and state facility bed utilization targets that have been
460 negotiated with the operating board, administrative policy board or local government department with a
461 policy-advisory board; (v) establish an enforcement mechanism, including notice and an appeal process,
462 should an operating board, administrative policy board or local government department with a
463 policy-advisory board fail to comply with any provisions of the contract, including provisions for
464 remediation, the withholding of funds, methods of repayment of funds, and for the Department to
465 exercise the provision of subsection E; and (vi) include reporting requirements and revenue, cost,
466 service, and consumer information displayed in a consistent, comparable format determined by the
467 Department.

468 D. No ~~program~~ operating community services board, administrative policy community services board
469 or local government department with a policy-advisory board shall be eligible for a grant hereunder to
470 receive state-controlled funds for mental health, mental retardation or substance abuse services after
471 September 15 of each year unless (i) its ~~plan and budget~~ have performance contract has been approved
472 by the governing body ~~or bodies~~ of each political subdivision ~~of which~~ that established it is an agency
473 and by the Department; (ii) it provides service, cost, revenue, and aggregate and individual consumer
474 data and information, notwithstanding the provisions of § 37.1-84.1 or any regulations promulgated
475 thereunder, to the Department in the format prescribed by the Department; and (iii) beginning on July
476 1, 2000, it uses standardized cost accounting and financial management systems approved by the
477 Department.

478 E. If, after unsuccessful use of the remediation process described in the performance contract, an
479 operating board or administrative policy board or local government department with a policy-advisory
480 board remains in substantial noncompliance with its performance contract with the Department, the
481 Department may, after affording the operating board or administrative policy board or local government
482 department with a policy-advisory board an adequate opportunity to use the appeal process described in
483 the performance contract, terminate all or a portion of the contract. Using the state-controlled resources
484 associated with that contract, the Department, after consulting with the governing body of each political
485 subdivision that established the operating board, administrative policy board or local government
486 department with a policy-advisory board, may negotiate a performance contract with another operating
487 board, administrative policy board, or local government department with a policy-advisory board or a
488 private nonprofit or for-profit organization or organizations to obtain services that were the subject of
489 the terminated performance contract.

490 § 37.1-199. Mental health, mental retardation and substance abuse services; allocation of funds by

491 Department; withdrawal of funds.

492 (a) A. At the beginning of each fiscal year the Department ~~may shall~~ allocate available
493 ~~state-controlled~~ funds to ~~the operating~~ community services boards, ~~administrative policy boards, and~~
494 ~~local government departments with policy-advisory boards~~ for disbursement in accordance with such
495 Department-approved ~~plans and budgets performance contracts~~.

496 B. From time to time during the fiscal year, the Department shall review the ~~budgets and~~
497 ~~expenditures performance reports~~ of the ~~various programs operating boards, administrative policy~~
498 ~~boards and local government departments with policy-advisory boards and the utilization management~~
499 ~~and review reports on their operations. If funds are not needed for a program to which they were~~
500 ~~allocated, the Department may withdraw such funds as are unencumbered, after reasonable notice and~~
501 ~~opportunity for hearing, and reallocate them to other programs. If The Department, after affording the~~
502 ~~operating board, administrative policy board or local government department with a policy-advisory~~
503 ~~board adequate opportunity to use the appeal process described in the performance contract, may~~
504 ~~withdraw funds from any operating community services board program which, administrative policy~~
505 ~~board or local government department with a policy-advisory board that is not being administered in~~
506 ~~accordance with the its approved plan and budget of the community services board performance contract;~~
507 ~~that does not need the funds, based on its performance reports or utilization management and review~~
508 ~~reports; or which that is not in compliance with the operational standards for such a program~~
509 ~~as community services that are promulgated by the State Board or that do not meet provider~~
510 ~~performance, consumer outcome, consumer satisfaction or consumer and family member involvement~~
511 ~~measures in its performance contract.~~

512 (b) C. The Department shall notify the governing body of each political subdivision that established
513 the operating board, administrative policy board or local government department with a policy-advisory
514 board before implementing any reduction of state-controlled funds. Before any political subdivision
515 withdraws local government matching funds, it shall notify its operating board, administrative policy
516 board or local government department with a policy-advisory board and the Department, since this
517 could affect the amount of state-controlled funds provided by the Department.

518 D. Allocations to be made to each ~~local~~ operating board, administrative policy board, or local
519 government department with a policy-advisory board shall be determined by the Department after careful
520 consideration of all of the following factors:

521 (1). The total amount of funds appropriated for this purpose,;

522 (2). The total amount of ~~matching~~ funds ~~requested~~ appropriated by the ~~local board, cities and~~
523 ~~counties participating in the community services board;~~

524 (3). The financial abilities of all of the cities and counties participating in the local ~~community~~
525 ~~services board to provide funds required to generate the requested state match,;~~

526 (4). The type and extent of ~~programs and services conducted~~ provided or planned by the ~~local~~
527 ~~operating community services board, administrative policy board or local government department with a~~
528 ~~policy-advisory board;~~

529 (5). The availability of services provided by the ~~local~~ operating board, administrative policy board or
530 local government department with a policy-advisory board in the area served by it, ~~and;~~

531 (6). The ability of the ~~programs and services~~ provided by the ~~local~~ operating board, administrative
532 policy board, or local government department with a policy-advisory board to decrease financial costs to
533 the Department and increase the effectiveness of ~~patient~~ treatment or training by reducing the number of
534 ~~patients consumers~~ being admitted to or retained in state ~~hospitals mental health facilities and training~~
535 ~~centers from the cities or counties participating in the local community services board; and~~

536 7. The performance of the operating board, administrative policy board or local government
537 department with a policy-advisory board, as measured by provider performance, consumer outcome,
538 consumer satisfaction, and consumer and family member involvement standards and criteria
539 promulgated by the State Board.

540 (e) E. Allocations to any one operating board, administrative policy board, or local government
541 department with a policy-advisory board shall not exceed the following proportions, unless a waiver is
542 granted by the Department pursuant to policy promulgated by the State Board:

543 (1). For the construction of facilities: ninety percent of the total ~~costs of~~ amount of state and local
544 ~~matching funds~~ provided for such construction.

545 (2). For salaries and other operational costs: ninety percent of the total ~~costs~~ amount of state and
546 local matching funds provided for these expenses.

547 (3) ~~[Repealed.]~~

548 (d) F. All fees collected ~~may shall~~ be kept by the operating board, administrative policy board, or
549 local government department with a policy-advisory board and used for operational costs.

550 § 37.1-202.1. Liability for expenses of services.

551 The income and estate of a ~~client~~ consumer shall be liable for the expenses of services ~~or facilities~~

552 under the jurisdiction or supervision of any *operating* community services board ~~which~~, *administrative*
 553 *policy board, or local government department with a policy-advisory board* that are utilized by the
 554 ~~client~~ *consumer*. Any person or persons responsible for holding, managing or controlling the income and
 555 estate of the ~~patient~~ *consumer* shall apply such income and estate toward the expenses of the services ~~or~~
 556 ~~facilities~~ utilized by the ~~client~~ *consumer*.

557 Any person or persons responsible for the support of a ~~client~~ *consumer* pursuant to § 20-61 or a
 558 common law duty to support shall be liable for the expenses of services ~~or facilities~~ under the
 559 jurisdiction or supervision of any *operating* community services board ~~which~~, *administrative policy*
 560 *board, or local government department with a policy-advisory board* that are utilized by the ~~client~~
 561 *consumer* unless the ~~client~~ *consumer*, regardless of age, qualifies for and is receiving aid under a federal
 562 or state program of assistance to the blind or disabled. Any such person or persons responsible for
 563 support of a ~~client~~ *consumer* pursuant to § 20-61 or a common-law duty to support shall no longer be
 564 financially liable, however, when a cumulative total of 1,826 days of (i) care and treatment or training
 565 for the ~~client~~ *consumer* in a state ~~hospital~~ *mental health facility or training center*; or (ii) the utilization
 566 by the ~~client~~ *consumer* of services ~~or facilities~~ under the jurisdiction or supervision of any *operating*
 567 community services board, *administrative policy board or local government department with a*
 568 *policy-advisory board*; or (iii) a combination of (i) and (ii) has passed, and payment for or a written
 569 agreement to pay the assessment for 1,826 days of care and services has been made. Not less than
 570 ~~three~~ hours of service per day shall be required to include ~~one~~ day in the cumulative total of 1,826
 571 days of utilization of services under the jurisdiction or supervision of a *any operating* community
 572 services board, *administrative policy board, or local government department with a policy-advisory*
 573 *board*. In order to claim this exemption, the person or persons legally liable for the ~~client~~ *consumer*
 574 shall produce evidence sufficient to prove eligibility therefor.

575 § 37.1-242. Behavioral health authorities; purpose.

576 Conditions resulting from evolving health care reform and behavioral health care delivery system
 577 reforms necessitate public instrumentalities to respond, organize, and effect ~~mental/behavioral~~ health care
 578 coverage and services for citizens of the Commonwealth. ~~Behavioral~~ *In behavioral* health authorities ~~are~~
 579 ~~required so that~~, the administration of public funds resides at the same organizational level, the
 580 behavioral health authority, as the responsibility and accountability for consumers and services. Such a
 581 public instrumentality is in the public interest and hereby authorized consistent with the following
 582 legislative provisions.

583 § 37.1-243. Definitions.

584 As used in this chapter, unless a different meaning clearly appears from the context:

585 "Authority" means a behavioral health authority, a public body and a body corporate and politic
 586 organized in accordance with the provisions of this chapter for the purposes and with the powers and
 587 duties hereinafter set forth.

588 "Behavioral health" means the full range of mental health care, ~~prevention, early intervention,~~
 589 ~~outpatient,~~ mental retardation, ~~developmental disabilities~~ and substance abuse services; and the full range
 590 of treatment modalities ~~including, but not limited to,~~ *which must include* emergency, and case
 591 *management services and may include a comprehensive system of* inpatient, outpatient, day support,
 592 residential, *prevention, early intervention* and other appropriate *mental health, mental retardation and*
 593 *substance abuse* services to effect an ~~accessible and integrated continuum of care necessary to provide~~
 594 *individualized services and supports to persons with mental illnesses, mental retardation, or alcohol or*
 595 *other drug abuse problems or dependence*.

596 "Behavioral health authority board of directors" means the public body organized in accordance with
 597 provisions of this chapter that is *appointed by* and accountable to the local governing ~~bodies~~ *body of the*
 598 *political subdivision that established it*.

599 "Behavioral health project" means all facilities suitable for providing adequate facilities and care for
 600 concentrated centers of population, and ~~shall also include~~ *includes* structures, buildings, improvements,
 601 additions, extensions, replacements, appurtenances, lands, rights in land, franchises, machinery,
 602 equipment, furnishings, landscaping, approaches, roadways and other facilities necessary or desirable in
 603 connection therewith or incidental thereto.

604 "Member" means ~~the respective~~ *a person appointed by the* local governing ~~body's~~ *appointee* body to
 605 the behavioral health authority board of directors.

606 "Performance contract" means the annual agreement negotiated by a behavioral health authority
 607 with the Department through which it provides state and federal funds appropriated for mental health,
 608 mental retardation and substance abuse services to that authority.

609 "Service area" means the ~~locality participating in and formulating~~ *political subdivision that*
 610 *established* the behavioral health authority.

611 "State Board" means the Virginia Mental Health, Mental Retardation and Substance Abuse Services
 612 Board.

613 "Unit" means any department, institution or commission of the Commonwealth and any public

614 corporate instrumentality thereof, and any district, and ~~shall include~~ *includes* counties and municipalities.

615 § 37.1-245. Board of directors; appointment; membership.

616 Every ~~locality~~ *city or county* establishing a behavioral health authority, before it comes within the
617 provisions of this chapter, shall establish a board of directors with neither less than ~~five~~ *six* nor more
618 than eighteen members. When any such ~~locality~~ *city or county* establishes a behavioral health authority,
619 the board of directors shall be appointed by the governing body of the ~~locality~~ *political subdivision*
620 *establishing the authority*. Appointments to the board of directors shall be broadly representative of the
621 community; ~~to include~~. *One third of the appointments to the board shall be identified consumers and*
622 *family members of consumers and at least one member at all times shall be a consumer. One or more*
623 *members may be non-governmental services providers. Sheriffs or their designees shall also be included,*
624 *when practical.*

625 No board of directors shall ~~be composed of a majority of~~ *include more than two local government*
626 *officials, elected or appointed, as members.*

627 The board of directors appointed pursuant to this section shall be responsible to the governing body
628 of the ~~locality~~ *which city or county* that established such authority.

629 *The county or city that establishes a behavioral health authority shall receive an annual audit of the*
630 *total revenues, expenditures and data from the authority and provide a copy of the audit to the*
631 *Department.*

632 § 37.1-246. Board of directors; terms; vacancies; removal.

633 The term of office of each member of the behavioral health authority board of directors shall be for
634 three years from January 1 of the year of appointment, or, at the option of the governing body of the
635 ~~locality~~ *city or county*, from July 1 of the year of appointment, except that of the members first
636 appointed, several shall be appointed for terms of one year each, several for terms of two years each,
637 and the remaining members for terms of three years each. The selection of members for one-year,
638 two-year, and three-year terms shall be as nearly equal as possible with regard to the total number of
639 members. If the governing body has appointed members for terms commencing January 1 or July 1 but
640 desires to change the date the terms of office commence, the governing body may, as the terms of the
641 members then in office expire, appoint successors for terms of two and one-half or three and one-half
642 years so that the terms expire on June 30 or December 31. Vacancies shall be filled for unexpired terms
643 in the same manner as original appointments. No person shall be eligible to serve more than ~~two~~
644 ~~successive~~ *three full three-year* terms, although persons appointed to fill vacancies may serve ~~two~~ *three*
645 ~~additional successive full three-year~~ terms. Any member of the board of directors may be removed by
646 the appointing governing body for cause, after being given a written statement of the causes and an
647 opportunity to be heard thereon.

648 § 37.1-247. Behavioral health authority board of directors officers; meetings.

649 The members of the behavioral health authority board of directors shall annually elect one of their
650 members as chairman and another as vice-chairman and shall also elect a secretary and a treasurer for
651 terms to be determined by the members, who may or may not be one of the members. The same person
652 may serve as both secretary and treasurer. The members shall make such rules, regulations, and bylaws
653 for their own government and procedure as they shall determine; they shall meet at least once each
654 month and may hold such special meetings as they deem necessary. *Such rules, regulations, and bylaws*
655 *shall be submitted to the governing body of the political subdivision that established the authority for*
656 *review and comment.*

657 § 37.1-248. Behavioral health authorities; powers and duties.

658 Every authority shall be deemed to be a public instrumentality, exercising public and essential
659 governmental functions to provide for the public mental health, welfare, convenience and prosperity of
660 the residents and such other persons who might be served by the authority and to provide behavioral
661 health ~~care and related~~ services to such residents and persons. An authority is ~~authorized to exercise the~~
662 *shall have the following powers and duties:*

663 1. Review and evaluate all existing and proposed public community mental health, mental
664 retardation, and substance abuse services and facilities available to serve the community and such private
665 services and facilities as receive funds through the authority and advise the ~~locality~~ *governing body of*
666 *the political subdivision that established it* as to its findings.

667 2. Pursuant to § 37.1-248.1 and in order to obtain state, local, federal, Medicaid, and other revenues
668 appropriated or reimbursed for the provision of mental health, mental retardation and substance abuse
669 services, submit to the governing body of the political subdivision that established it an annual
670 performance contract for community mental health, mental retardation, and substance abuse services for
671 its approval prior to submission of the contract to the Department.

672 3. Within amounts allocated by local, state, federal, Medicaid, and other payers, execute programs
673 and services appropriated therefor, provide such services as may be authorized under such performance
674 contract for consumers in need.

675 34. *In accordance with its approved performance contract, enter into contracts with other providers*
 676 *for the rendition or operation of services or facilities.*

677 4a. Make and enter into all *other* contracts or agreements, as the authority may determine, which are
 678 necessary or incidental to the performance of its duties and to the execution of powers granted by this
 679 chapter, including contracts with any federal agency, the Commonwealth, or with any unit thereof,
 680 behavioral health providers, insurers, and managed care/health care networks on such terms and
 681 conditions as the authority may approve.

682 45. Make rules, *policies*, or regulations concerning the rendition or operation of services and facilities
 683 under its direction or supervision, subject to applicable standards, *policies*, or regulations promulgated by
 684 the State Mental Health, Mental Retardation and Substance Abuse Services Board.

685 56. Appoint a chief executive officer of the behavioral health authority, *according to minimum*
 686 *qualifications established by the Department*, and prescribe his duties. The compensation of such chief
 687 executive officer shall be fixed by the authority ~~and he~~ *within the amounts made available by*
 688 *appropriation therefor. The chief executive officer shall serve at the pleasure of the authority's*
 689 *board of directors and be employed under an annually renewable contract that contains performance*
 690 *objectives and evaluation criteria. The Department shall (i) participate in and approve the selection of*
 691 *the chief executive officer, (ii) review and approve his contract, and (iii) review and approve the*
 692 *compensation packages of the chief executive officer and senior management staff.*

693 6. Empower the chief executive officer to maintain a complement of professional staff to operate the
 694 behavioral health authority's service delivery system.

695 7. Prescribe a reasonable schedule of fees for services provided by personnel or facilities under the
 696 jurisdiction or supervision of the authority and *establish procedures for the collection of the same. All*
 697 *fees collected shall be included in the performance contract submitted to the local governing body*
 698 *pursuant to subdivision 2 hereof and § 37.1-248.1 and shall be used only for community mental health,*
 699 *mental retardation and substance abuse purposes.* Every authority shall institute a reimbursement system
 700 to maximize the collection of fees from persons receiving services under the jurisdiction or supervision
 701 of the authority consistent with the provisions of § 37.1-202.1 and from responsible third-party payers.
 702 *Authorities shall not attempt to bill or collect fees for time spent participating in involuntary*
 703 *commitment hearings pursuant to § 37.1-67.3.*

704 8. Accept ~~loans,~~ *or refuse gifts, donations, bequests, or grants of money or property, or other*
 705 *assistance from the federal government, the Commonwealth, any municipality thereof, or from any other*
 706 *sources, public or private;* *utilize the same* to carry out any of its purposes; and enter into any
 707 agreement or contract regarding or relating to the acceptance or use or repayment of any such ~~loan,~~
 708 grant or assistance.

709 9. *Seek and accept funds through federal grants. In accepting such grants, the authority shall not*
 710 *bind the governing body of the political subdivision that established it to any expenditures or conditions*
 711 *of acceptance without the prior approval of such governing body.*

712 10. Notwithstanding any provision of law to the contrary, disburse funds ~~allocated to it in~~ *in*
 713 *accordance with applicable regulations* ~~appropriated to it in accordance with applicable regulations.~~

714 11. *Apply for and accept loans in accordance with regulations established by the board of directors.*

715 12. Develop joint annual written agreements, consistent with policies and procedures established by
 716 the State Board, with local school divisions; health departments; boards of social services; housing
 717 agencies, where they exist; courts; sheriffs; area agencies on aging; and regional Department of
 718 Rehabilitative Services offices. The agreements shall specify what services will be provided to
 719 consumers. All participating agencies shall develop and implement the agreements and shall review the
 720 agreements annually.

721 13. *Develop and submit to the Department the necessary information for the preparation of the*
 722 *Comprehensive State Plan for mental health, mental retardation and substance abuse services pursuant*
 723 *to § 37.1-48.1.*

724 14. *Take all necessary and appropriate actions to maximize the involvement and participation of*
 725 *consumers and family members of consumers in policy formulation and service planning, delivery, and*
 726 *evaluation.*

727 15. *Institute, singly or in combination with other operating community services boards, administrative*
 728 *policy boards, local governments, or behavioral health authorities, a dispute resolution mechanism that*
 729 *is approved by the Department and enables consumers and family members of consumers to resolve*
 730 *concerns, issues, or disagreements about services without adversely affecting their access to or receipt*
 731 *of appropriate types and amounts of current or future services from the authority.*

732 16. Notwithstanding the provisions of § 37.1-84.1 and regulations promulgated thereunder, release
 733 data and information about individual consumers to the Department, so long as the Department
 734 implements procedures to protect the confidentiality of such information.

735 17. Fulfill all other duties ~~and be subject to applicable provisions~~ specified in the Code of Virginia
 736 pertaining to community services boards including, *but not limited to:* § 37.1-65.1 (judicial certification

737 of eligibility for admission of mentally retarded persons); §§ 37.1-67.1 through 37.1-67.6 (involuntary
738 detention); § 37.1-84.1 (human rights); § 37.1-98.2 (exchange of information); § 37.1-183.1 (licensure);
739 § 37.1-197.1 (prescription team); § 37.1-198 (plans and budgets); § 37.1-197.2 (background checks);
740 § 37.1-199 (allocation of funds by the Department of Mental Health, Mental Retardation, and Substance
741 Abuse Services); and § 37.1-202.1 (consumer liability for expenses of services).

742 ~~12. Fulfill all applicable rules, regulations and standards pertaining to the rendition of mental health,
743 mental retardation, and substance abuse services including, but not limited to, confidentiality, human
744 research assurances, service and facility licensing, and client rights' protection.~~

745 ~~13. As a public instrumentality, ensure compliance with all applicable organizational and
746 administrative rules, regulations and standards pertaining to human resources; equal employment; fair
747 labor practices; public procurement; risk management; and governmental finance and accounting
748 requirements.~~

749 ~~1418. Make loans and provide other assistance to corporations, partnerships, associations, joint
750 ventures or other entities in carrying out any activities authorized by this chapter.~~

751 ~~1519. Transact its business, locate its offices and control, directly or through stock or nonstock
752 corporations or other entities, facilities that will assist the authority in carrying out the purposes and
753 intent of this chapter, including without limitations the power to own or operate, directly or indirectly,
754 behavioral health facilities in its service area.~~

755 ~~16. Plan, design, construct, renovate, enlarge, equip, maintain and operate programs for the purpose
756 of providing behavioral health care and related services and other appropriate purposes.~~

757 ~~1720. Acquire property, real or personal, by purchase, gift, or devise on such terms and conditions,
758 and in such manner as it may deem proper, and such rights, easements or estates therein as may be
759 necessary for its purposes, and sell, lease and dispose of the same, or any portion thereof or interest
760 therein, whenever it shall become expedient to do so.~~

761 ~~1821. Participate in joint ventures with individuals, corporations, partnerships, associations or other
762 entities for providing behavioral health care or related services or other activities that the authority may
763 undertake to the extent that such undertakings assist the authority in carrying out the purposes and intent
764 of this chapter.~~

765 ~~1922. Conduct or engage in any lawful business, activity, effort or project, necessary or convenient
766 for the purposes of the authority or for the exercise of any of its powers.~~

767 ~~2023. As a public instrumentality, operationalize its administrative management infrastructure in
768 whole or in part independent of the local governing body; however, nothing in the chapter precludes
769 behavioral health authorities from acquiring support services through existing government entities.~~

770 ~~2124. Operationalize capital improvements and bonding through existing economic or industrial
771 development authorities.~~

772 ~~2225. Establish retirement, group life insurance, and group accident and sickness insurance plans or
773 systems for its employees in the same manner as cities, counties and towns are permitted under
774 § 51.1-801.~~

775 ~~2326. Make an annual report to the State Virginia Department of Mental Health, Mental Retardation
776 and Substance Abuse Services Board of the authority's activities.~~

777 ~~2427. Ensure a continuation of all ~~client~~ consumer services during any transition period.~~

778 ~~§ 37.1-248.1. Performance contract for mental health, mental retardation and substance abuse
779 services.~~

780 ~~A. The Department shall develop and initiate negotiation of the performance contracts through which
781 it provides funds to behavioral health authorities to accomplish the purposes set forth in this chapter.
782 Six months prior to the beginning of each fiscal year, the Department shall make available to the public
783 the standard performance contract form that it intends to use as the performance contract for that fiscal
784 year, and solicit public comments for a period of sixty days.~~

785 ~~B. Any behavioral health authority may apply for the assistance provided in this chapter by
786 submitting annually to the Department its proposed performance contract for the next fiscal year
787 together with the recommendations of the behavioral health authority's board of directors and the
788 approval by formal vote of the governing body of the political subdivision that established it. The
789 behavioral health authority shall make its proposed performance contract available for public review
790 and solicit public comments for a period of thirty days prior to submitting it for the recommendations of
791 the behavioral health authority's board of directors. To avoid disruptions in service continuity, the
792 Department may provide up to five semi-monthly payments of state-controlled funds to allow sufficient
793 time to complete public review, public comment, negotiation and approval of the performance contract.
794 If the governing body of each political subdivision does not approve the proposed performance contract
795 by September 15 of each year, the performance contract shall be deemed approved.~~

796 ~~C. The performance contract shall (i) delineate the responsibilities of the Department and the
797 behavioral health authority; (ii) specify conditions that must be met for the receipt of state-controlled~~

798 funds; (iii) identify the groups of consumers to be served with state-controlled funds; (iv) beginning on
 799 July 1, 2000, contain specific consumer, provider performance, consumer satisfaction and consumer and
 800 family member participation and involvement measures, and state facility bed utilization targets that
 801 have been negotiated with the behavioral health authority; (v) establish an enforcement mechanism,
 802 including notice and an appeal process, should the behavioral health authority fail to comply with any
 803 provisions of the contract, including provisions for remediation, the withholding of funds, methods of
 804 repayment of funds, and for the Department to exercise the provisions of subsection E hereof; and (vi)
 805 include reporting requirements and revenue, cost, service, and consumer information displayed in a
 806 consistent, comparable format determined by the Department.

807 D. No behavioral health authority shall be eligible to receive state-controlled funds for mental
 808 health, mental retardation or substance abuse services after September 15 of each year unless (i) its
 809 performance contract has been approved by the governing body of the political subdivision that
 810 established it and by the Department; (ii) it provides service, cost, revenue, and aggregate and
 811 individual consumer data and information, notwithstanding § 37.1-84.1 or any regulations promulgated
 812 thereunder, to the Department in the format prescribed by the Department; and (iii) beginning on July
 813 1, 2000, it uses standardized cost accounting and financial management systems approved by the
 814 Department.

815 E. If, after unsuccessful use of the remediation process described in the performance contract, a
 816 behavioral health authority remains in substantial noncompliance with its performance contract with the
 817 Department, the Department may, after affording the authority an adequate opportunity to use the
 818 appeal process described in the performance contract, terminate all or a portion of the contract. Using
 819 the state-controlled resources associated with that contract, the Department, after consulting with the
 820 governing body of the political subdivision that established the behavioral health authority, may
 821 negotiate a performance contract with an operating community services board, an administrative policy
 822 community services board or a local government department with a policy-advisory board or a private
 823 nonprofit or for-profit organization or organizations to obtain services that were the subject of the
 824 terminated performance contract.

825 § 37.1-250. Transfer of facilities and assets.

826 The governing body of the ~~locality~~ political subdivision that established the authority is authorized to
 827 transfer to the authority the operation and maintenance of such suitable facilities as are now or may be
 828 hereafter owned by the ~~locality~~, city or county on such terms and conditions ~~which~~ that it may
 829 prescribe; but this section shall not be construed as authorizing the authority to maintain and operate
 830 such facilities until the operation thereof has been transferred by the governing body of the ~~locality~~
 831 political subdivision that established it.

832 § 37.1-251. Local appropriations.

833 The ~~locality~~ city or county that established the authority is authorized to make appropriations and to
 834 provide funds for the operation of the authority and to further its purposes. *Such appropriations for the*
 835 *authority shall be subject to the same requirements for operating community services boards and local*
 836 *government departments as set forth in § 37.1-199.*

837 § 37.1-252. Proceedings for dissolution.

838 Whenever it appears to the board of directors of a behavioral health authority that the need for such
 839 authority in the ~~locality~~ city or county in which it was created no longer exists, then, upon petition by
 840 the board of directors of the authority to the circuit court of such ~~locality~~ city or county after giving to
 841 the ~~locality~~ city or county ~~thirty~~ ninety days' notice, and upon the production of the satisfactory evidence
 842 in support of such petition, the court may, in its discretion, enter an order declaring that the need for
 843 such authority in the locality no longer exists and approving a plan for the winding up of the business
 844 of the authority, the payment or assumption of its obligations, and the transfer of its assets. *In order to*
 845 *be approved by the court, the court must find that this plan describes specifically how the city or county*
 846 *that established the authority will fulfill the same duties and responsibilities required for community*
 847 *services boards under §§ 37.1-194 through 37.1-202.1, and how the city or county will ensure continuity*
 848 *of care for consumers who are receiving services from the authority.*

849 § 37.1-253. When powers and duties cease to exist.

850 If the court shall enter an order, as provided in § 37.1-252, that the need for such *behavioral health*
 851 *authority* no longer exists, then, except for the winding up of its affairs in accordance with the plan
 852 approved by the court, ~~its~~ *such authority's* authorities, powers and duties to transact business or to
 853 function shall cease to exist as of that date set forth in the order of the court.